Study: Management, Society & Technology
Institution: University of Twente, Enschede
Assignment: Bachelor Thesis (M12)
Student, number: Anna Marina Collet, 2565854

Dissecting misalignment in agri-environmental policy design: The Case of the PAS and the Dutch Nitrogen Crisis. Word count: 11943

Submission: Wednesday, 28th June 2023

Bachelor circle: Anatomy of an unfolding disaster: Knowledge and power in the age of the climate crisis.

Table of Contents

1	Introduction	1
	1.1 Scientific and societal relevance	1
	1.2 Research aim	3
2	Theory	3
	2.1 Recent changes in Dutch agriculture concerning economic and sustainable development	4
	2.2 Theorizing about failure in policy design	5
	2.3 Multiple Streams Framework and factors influencing policy design	6
	2.4 Modelling dynamics between clusters of actors	7
3	Methods	9
	3.1 Research design	9
	3.2 Data collection	9
	3.3 Operationalization and data analysis	11
4	Analysis	11
	4.1 Legal considerations on the policy design of the PAS	11
	4.2 Outline of the policy design process of the PAS	12
	4.3 Actors in the policy design process of the PAS	13
	4.4 Understanding the policy design process in terms of the MSF	17
	4.5 Understanding the policy design process in terms of clusters of actors	19
	4.6 Main findings	21
5	Conclusion	23
	5.1 Answer to the research question	23
	5.2 Discussion and implications	23
	5.3 Limitations and future research	24
6	List of references	25
7	Data Appendix	28

List of abbreviations

AFIs Abstract Forms of Interaction

CAP Common Agricultural Policy of the European Union

CDA Christen-Democratisch Appèl (Christian-Democratic Appeal) (conservative/farmer's political party)

CPT Causal process tracing

DPAS Definitieve Programma Aanpak Stikstof (definitive PAS)

EU European Union

EZ Ministerie van Economische Zaken (Ministry of Economic Affairs)

EZLI Ministerie van Economische Zaken, Landbouw en Innovatie (Merger of EZ and LNV)

LNV Ministerie van Landbouw, Natuur en Voedselkwaliteit (Ministry of Agriculture)

LTO Land- en Tuinbouw Organisatie Nederland (Organisation representing agricultural businesses)

MER Milieueffectrapport (Environmental Impact Assessment Report)

MSF Multiple Streams Framework

NBW Natuurbeschermingswet 1998 (Nature Conservancy Act of 1998)

PAS Programma Aanpak Stikstof (Integrated Nitrogen Approach)

PBL Planbureau voor de Leefomgeving (Governmental Agency for the Environment) PvdA Partij van der Arbeid (Labor Party)

PvdD

Partij van de Dieren (Animal Party) (green political party)

RIVM

Rijksinstitut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu (National Institute for Public Health and the Environment)

VenW Ministerie van Verkeer en Waterstaat (Ministry of Traffic and Water)

VPAS Voorlopige Programma Aanpak Stikstof (provisional PAS)

VVD Volkspartij voor de Vrijheid (People's party of Freedom) (liberal political party)

WUR

Wageningen University of Research (Dutch Agricultural University)

Abstract

The conflict between environmental protection and economic development is dominating the discourse on climate change policy. The case study of the Dutch nitrogen crisis exemplifies this conflict of interests and the government's failure to provide a legal, integrated approach. The present thesis critically examines the events which led to the court case of 2019, declaring the government's approach to reduce nitrogen pollution as insufficient and illegal: *Which factors within the policy design process of the Programma Aanpak Stikstof (PAS) in the years between 2008 and 2015 can be used to explain the Dutch government's failure to design a nitrogen policy in line with the EU Habitats Directive?* This paper argues that clusters of actors which are applied to climate policy on a global level may be useful to understand the role of actors in the policy design process of the PAS at national level. Qualitative evidence is used to analyze the process, including court decisions, press releases, and policy documents. Descriptive findings on three stages within the process are linked in reference to Kingdon's multiple streams framework (MSF) to explain the eventual outcome. The results of the process tracing highlight possible avenues to improve policy design for sustainable agricultural development.

1. Introduction

In 2019, the Dutch government's integrated approach to reduce nitrogen depositions near protected nature areas is the subject of a momentous court case (Ministerie van Algemene Zaken, 2022). These depositions account for nitrogen oxide (NOy) and ammonia (NHx) (ref. *Fig. 1*), which are compounds of nitrogen. In excess, they may have a negative impact on water quality, public health, and wildlife (WUR, 2022). Nitrogen oxide is also known as a potent greenhouse gas (UNEP, 2023). When speaking of a 'nitrogen crisis', it is those harmful compounds which are of concern. For brevity, this paper only refers to 'nitrogen', in line with the common discourse in media and academia.

The country's administrative court ruled that the government's approach to reduce nitrogen, the PAS, or *Programma Anpaak Stikstof*, is violating EU law (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019). More specifically, it violates the requirements of the EU Habitats Directive, under which designated Natura 2000 areas are protected (RIVM, 2020). This led to what is known today as the Dutch nitrogen crisis. According to the Ministry for Public Health and Environment, more than 40% of the pollution can be attributed to agricultural activities (RIVM, 2019). Hence, the government intends to focus its measures on farmers, who have protested them (Stokstad, 2019). The subject of this case study is the policy design process of the PAS.

1.1 Scientific and societal relevance

The Dutch nitrogen crisis, or *stikstofcrisis*, has been widely discussed in media both nationally and internationally (Stokstad, 2019). Earlier research in public law focuses on the legality of the PAS as an integrated approach, and a few assessments have been published regarding its effect on the Dutch economy and nature (Doorne, 2019) (Stokstad, 2019). Considering the attention paid by the public and media, it is notable how little research has been published on the PAS and its background in recent years: Efforts to reduce pollution levels have been ongoing since 1990 (*Fig. 1*) (WUR, 2022).



Figure 1: Nitrogen depositions in the Netherlands

RIVM/nov19 www.clo.nl/eno18918 The Netherlands used to be known as a leader within the EU on matters of nature conservation, rapidly institutionalizing the discourse and adopting plans such as the national ecological network (Buijs et al., 2014). However, the discourse has since shifted to pose policies on ecological protection as a threat to economic development (Buijs et al., 2014). This shift affected policy developments that led to the court case in 2019: It was the aim of the PAS to allow room for economic development while reducing nitrogen depositions and keeping Natura 2000 sites intact (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019). To date, there is no research published on the policy process leading up to the PAS from its conception in 2008 to its implementation in 2015. This is the knowledge gap that this paper seeks to address.

The Dutch nitrogen crisis does not stand on its own. While efforts to agree on effective, long-term solutions are still ongoing in the Netherlands, the world at large is facing an urgent need to rethink agricultural practices in face of the climate and ecological crisis (Ministerie van Algemene Zaken, 2020) (Ignaciuk, 2015). A transition toward sustainable food systems could offer beneficial impacts for the reduction of emissions, public health, and biodiversity (Sumter, 2021). In the case of tackling the nitrogen crisis, the impacts extend toward a range of societal issues, reaching from housing shortages to economic uncertainty and political protests (RIVM, 2020) (Stokstad, 2019). Some experts argue that what is currently unfolding regarding the disruptive farmer's protests, illegally high pollution levels and agro-political turmoil may showcase what is awaiting many other countries (Stokstad, 2019). As a major importer and exporter of food and producer of agricultural innovation, the Netherlands represents a key player in the transformation of global food systems (Sumter, 2021). In other words, many countries look to the Netherlands for the successful development of their own sustainable food systems and policies. As a concrete example, EUREGIO, a German-Dutch organization concerned about cross-border cooperation, is aiming to inform about the nitrogen issue in a cross-border context. Therefore, it has an interest in research available in a language understandable to citizens in both countries (EUREGIO, 2023). In summary, analyzing this specific case and providing insight on how to approach a new system from the perspective of policy design and governance could be of great societal relevance.

Existing literature theorizes and debates challenges that arise in the governance of sustainable development at different levels of governance and on different scales (Breuer et al., 2022) (Nhamo et al., 2020). Concurrently, policy remains far behind on addressing those challenges adequately (Stoddard et al., 2021). Even targets alone may be misdirected (Helm, 2010). It is evident that the knowledge available on what measures are needed has not produced the necessary action by those in power to implement it. This failure may occur when environmental matters are treated as a matter of the state and the state solely, as governments lack the "depth and quality of information" to make appropriate decisions (Hepburn, 2010, p.1). This highlights the need to involve different actors in policy design. Tracing the decision-making process of the PAS might offer new insights on this connection between actors' involvement and effective policy design. The mechanisms behind this process of translating knowledge into policy in the context of agricultural governance are often complex and context-dependent (Norton, 2005). Government failure may also be a consequence of policy lock-ins: reinforcing mechanisms which drive stability in the policy landscape and hinder the transformative changes needed in face of the climate crisis (Groen et al, 2023).

Therefore, an in-depth study of this recent case may offer more clarity about how these mechanisms unfold in practice, and what can be done to redirect policy. While some conceptualizations have been developed on the mechanisms of distributing knowledge and power in such a way that the climate crisis remains to be addressed adequately (Stoddard et al., 2021), and many scholars have offered theoretical insights on the process behind goal-setting and decision-making in public administration (Capano et al., 2019) (Kingdon, 2011), there remains the question of how fitting these approaches are for policy processes in sustainable agricultural governance. The present thesis tests a combined, novel approach to assess such processes based on a new and socially relevant case. Crises such as the nitrogen crisis faced by the Netherlands are likely to continue to occur, for as long as there are no suitable tools available to prevent them. The scientific and societal relevance of this paper is to address this gap and explore missed opportunities in the policy design process which may be utilized by governments to avoid such crises.

1.2 Research aim

This paper seeks to assess the process which led to the current nitrogen crisis. With this research, it may be possible to identify paths to successfully implement the EU Habitats Directive, and ultimately, contribute to the transition toward a more sustainable and healthier food system. The present thesis, conducted in the style of a causal process tracing analysis, seeks to answer the following research question: *Which factors within the policy design process of the Programma Aanpak Stikstof (PAS) in the years between 2008 and 2015 can be used to explain the Dutch government's failure to design a nitrogen policy in line with the EU Habitats Directive?*

To answer the main research question, both theoretical and empirical sub-questions are addressed in the context of this single case study.

Theoretical sub-question:

1. Which factors lead to policy failure from the perspective of policy design?

I address this question in the theory section (ref. 2.2-2.4).

Empirical sub-questions:

- 1. Which policy measures of the PAS violate the EU Habitats Directive, and how?
- 2. Which important decisions can be identified within the policy design process relating to this violation?
- 3. Which actors influenced the choice of policy measures, and how?

To answer these questions, four aspects need to be understood and assessed critically. Firstly, the major *decisions* that formed part of the policy process between 2008 and 2015 are described in detail. Secondly, the *actors* involved in influencing the design of the policy on the issue of nitrogen pollution and agricultural governance. Thirdly, it may become possible to deduce which *alternatives*, specifically alternative choices which may have avoided a crisis, the Dutch government has failed to recognize or utilize, and why, using the Multiple Streams Framework (MSF) (Kingdon, 2011). Lastly, I assess whether the *mechanisms* that can be identified within this long-term process reflect a similar dynamic as that of the failure to address greenhouse gas emissions globally (Stoddard et al, 2021).

2. Theory

In its essence, the present thesis is concerned with the roots of failure in policy design: dissecting a policy design process which led to misalignment with EU law and a seemingly unmanageable environmental crisis. To understand the involved factors, a high level of contextual information and a detailed understanding of factors involved in the policy design are necessary. Therefore, I first introduce the historical context of the PAS. I argue that Kingdon's Multiple Streams Framework (MSF) is useful to assess the policy design process. The aim is to use Kingdon's approach to explain agenda-setting in the context of the PAS and create a causal model through which to understand the policy process in relation to mechanisms of distributing knowledge and power.

To create this model, I focus on the conflict between economic and environmental interests based on an adaption of the theory of roles of clusters of actors in policy processes developed by Stoddard et al (2021). This novel, combined approach allows to assess factors relating to knowledge and power which create a specific dynamic between actors. The section concludes with a list of expectations on the dynamics between actors to explain the shortcomings of the PAS, based on the theories and information presented.

2.1 Recent changes in Dutch agriculture concerning economic and sustainable development

To understand the historical context of the Dutch nitrogen crisis and the PAS, I present an overview of the agricultural, political, and institutional changes affecting the Netherland's current situation (Fig. 2). Dutch agriculture evolved from a longstanding practice of knowledge exchange, starting with the creation of a State Agricultural School in 1876, which later evolved into an agricultural university known today as the Wageningen University of Research (WUR) (Bieleman, 2010). For a few decades, it was farmers themselves who utilized this shared network and knowledge to expand their business and overcome economic hurdles (Bieleman, 2010). At this time, agriculture took the form of small-scale, mixed farms, spread out over the country (Van Der Heide et al., 2011). The government's role had been limited to that of facilitation and oversight (Bieleman, 2010). However, with the economic crisis of the 1930s, the Dutch government eventually decided to intervene and implemented a crisis legislation (Bieleman, 2010). It entailed the use of artificial fertilizers, herbicides, and pesticides to increase production, while keeping prices artificially low (Van Der Heide et al., 2011). In other words, it was thanks to an economic crisis that the Dutch government expanded its role from simple facilitation to great-scale interventions, instating governmental bodies with the authority and capacity to formulate and enforce regulations. Land consolidation projects, part of the crisis legislation and later policy interventions, led to a transformation of the Dutch countryside, enabling more effective use of machines and labor (Van Der Heide et al., 2011).

By the 1950s, the Dutch countryside had been completely transformed and taken over by farming (Bieleman, 2010). Livestock farming and dairy had been a stronghold for Dutch farmers for decades (Bieleman, 2010). However, with the increased use of fertilizers and the possibility of importing feed, the farming landscape changed from diversified farming systems to highly specialized, intensified production of animal products (Bieleman, 2010) (Van Der Heide et al., 2011). Dutch agricultural policy today is framed within the European Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) (Koetse & Bouma, 2022). The CAP had been launched in 1962 with the aim of improving agricultural productivity and the livelihoods of farmers (European Commission, 2023). The Dutch government, for several decades, used this funding to grant subsidies for farmers who used modern methods, increasing production, and decreasing labor costs (Bieleman, 2010). Intensification, mechanization, and resource efficiency were the foundation of a sustainable, comprehensive agricultural policy, yet this also meant that many farmers had to look for new jobs (Bieleman, 2010). In 2007, less than 10% of the Dutch labor force is employed in agriculture, whereas total production had increased tremendously compared to pre-mechanization times (Van Der Heide et al., 2011).

Although agricultural production had become highly efficient thanks to continuous investments and strategic planning, its reliance on artificial fertilizers and focus on animal products posed an environmental threat, which raised concerns among policymakers and the public (Bieleman, 2010). The policy aims shifted from expansion to reduction and restrictions, which, at first, were welcomed despite the cost of such environmental protection policies, as they led to the phenomenon of 'precision farming': even more resource-efficient farming systems enabled by modern technologies (Bieleman, 2010). However, the discourse underwent a change in the 1990s: with the government instating nature conservation sites under the Nature Conservancy Act, or *Naturbeschermingswet* (NBW), of 1998, which became part of the Natura 2000 network of protected areas as regulated by the EU Habitats Directive of 1992, a growing conflict between the need for environmental protection and the economic interests of farmers, mainly livestock and

dairy farmers, raised questions for how to satisfy both sides when formulating policy (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019) (Buijs et al., 2013). With the instalment of the administration commonly known as Rutte-1 in 2010, a more liberal, conservative government took force and a stance against the previously established course of Dutch nature policy, allegedly disrupting the Dutch 'social contract' on nature conservation and the political coalitions supporting it (Buijs et al., 2013) (Ministerie van Algemene Zaken, 2023). The PAS, an integrated approach on nitrogen as one factor within this conflict, had been implemented in 2015, voted in by the Dutch parliament led by prime minister Rutte (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019). As ruled by the Council of State in 2019, the policy did not sufficiently consider the impact of farming activities concerning nitrogen depositions near the Natura 2000 areas of the Netherlands and had to be abolished with immediate effect — another crisis emerged, now both economic and environmental (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019).

Figure 2: Time axis 1876 – 2019

B Wag	eginnings of the eningen Univer of Research	e Gove sity facilit 1900	rnment as ating body only 1920	Government save agricultural secto from collapse 1940	es Govern or strongly su modern fa 1960	ment ibsidizes arming 1980	Shift toward reduction an restrictions 2000	Declaration of the Dutch Nitrogen Crisis 2019
	1 Econom as farme a chang	895 ty recovers trs adapt to ing market	193 Agric C Legi	1-1934 cultural risis slation	1962 EU Common Agricultural Policy (CAP)	E	1992 U Habitats Directive	2015 Implementation of the PAS
	1898 Creation of a Department Or of Agriculture (Mini (Ministry of Home Affairs)		t Ori (Minis)	1935 gin of the LNV try of Agriculture)	1970 Nature con (Natur Natuurbe	0s - 2000s nservation ca 2000 site scherming.	efforts Mari es, as swet)	2010 & Rutte is voted in Prime Minister (VVD)

2.2 Theorizing about failure in policy design

Different types of government failure can be distinguished, such as a failure to provide order, social welfare, or public values. Within the academic discourse on the climate crisis, the issue of government failure associated with policy design has not been acknowledged until recently (Helm, 2010). By contrast, policy failure is a more defined concepts, which occurs when the goal of a specific policy could not be achieved (Leong & Howlett, 2021). Both may be interlinked, yet a policy aimed to satisfy the interests of a specific clientele may be successful while simultaneously contributing toward an environmental disaster. In the case of the Dutch nitrogen crisis, the government's failure may be regarded as designing a policy which the Dutch administrative court ruled as illegal and insufficient to address the need for the reduction of nitrogen (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019). There is a mismatch between the target and the measures.

Mechanisms involved in the policy design may be used to understand why this mismatch occurs. Such mechanisms are commonly conceptualized as abstract forms of interactions (AFI) which result in an observed outcome, and form part of a causal process tracing analysis (Capano et al, 2019). According to this mechanistic view of policy, a policy process leading up to a crisis such as the nitrogen crisis can be analyzed by looking at interactions, e.g., between actors, as part of a causal chain of events (Capano et al, 2019). When reflecting on causal mechanisms behind crises and options to respond to environmental change in the future, counterfactual information may be used to address uncertainties about the processes and patterns influencing change (Ricks & Liu, 2018). Simply put, a causal mechanism and its implications

for improving policy design may be better understood by considering the consequences of alternative interactions.

However, this mechanistic, determinist model may not be sufficient to understand the roots of policy failure. The rational assumptions underlying it are quite reductionist, as they ignore more human, less predictable factors and lead to the exclusion of potentially relevant information (Izdebski et al, 2022). Moreover, policy failure is commonly analyzed under the assumption that governments have good intentions and act rationally, when it may be more useful to assume that the government may not act in good faith and instead, may intentionally avoid outcomes of public value. To explore this 'dark side' of policy making may produce more meaningful learnings to address social or environmental problems (Leong & Howlett, 2021). The agency and ingenuity of actors should not be underestimated. Considering the historical, institutional, and political context of the PAS (ref. 2.1), it is necessary to include a framework which makes this agency explicit.

2.3 Multiple Streams Framework and factors influencing policy design

As discussed, a detailed understanding of context and agency is needed to assess the policy process of the PAS. For this purpose, the Multiple Streams Framework (MSF) can be used in combination with the more mechanistic approach of causal process tracing (Kingdon, 2011). The MSF is an established approach to explain agenda-setting (Ackrill et al., 2013). This approach has been applied to explain national and regional environmental policies (Allen, 2020). In the case of the PAS, this ambiguity and shifting of priorities is evident from the change in discourse on the issue of nature conservation (Buijs et al., 2014). Therefore, the MSF may be used to understand factors influencing policy design beyond the purely rational, mechanistic view.

To understand the process of policy design, the framework distinguishes between three streams: problem, policy, and politics (Hoefer, 2022). The streams are used to explain why some issues become part of the decision agenda, while others do not (Kingdon, 2011).

According to the MSF, decision-makers may change their preferences over time due to various factors relating to the three streams, and rationality is not possible due to the ambiguity of problem-definition (Hoefner, 2022). *Figure 3* illustrates this framework, which is well-suited for case study analysis, specifically to highlight the role of historical contexts and ambiguity in policy development (Ackrill et al., 2013).

The problem stream refers to the changing perceptions and definitions of what the problem consists of. The debate on how to define a problem for political action is in the hands of policy communities. Policy communities consist of academics, public administrators, or interest groups. It may be influenced by limited information, focus events, or feedback (Hoefner, 2022). Policy communities also debate and construct alternatives, solutions in search of problems, as part of the policy stream, determining which approaches may be feasible (Hoefner, 2022). Public opinion and the prevailing political discourse form part of the politics stream (Hoefner, 2022).

The MSF emphasizes that not only the position of actors may change, but the extent of their agency may as well, depending on the context (Ackrill et al., 2013). This nuance may be useful in understanding the role of actors over time.

Each stream that forms part of the MSF may develop independently, yet impact the final decision (Ackrill et al., 2013). The latter takes place when a window of opportunity is opened, facilitated by a policy entrepreneur (Hoefner, 2022). Such an open window is a rare, short-lived occurrence and the result of a

deliberate effort to couple solutions (from the policy stream) with problems (from the problem stream) and bring this to the attention of powerful actors (the politics stream) (Kingdon, 2011). A policy entrepreneur is one actor, or several actors, who is willing and able to invest resources into setting the agenda and ensures that a majority supports the implementation of the proposed solution (Hoefner, 2022).

To apply the MSF to the policy design of the PAS means to skillfully analyze change in actor's preferences and strategies at critical moments from within and outside of institutions (Ackrill et al., 2022). It allows to consider political shifts and differences in agency between actors. This may help establish not only which factors were present in guiding the policy design, but also assess and categorize their relative impact on the final decision.





2.4 Modelling dynamics between clusters of actors

A similar question of misalignment, in this case of failing to reduce carbon emissions globally, is assessed by Stoddard et al (2021). The research highlights the conflict between economic and environmental interests of different groups of actors (Stoddard et al, 2021). The authors suggest a categorization of actors or lenses based on their influence on the climate crisis. This approach to institutional analysis and potential reform for improved collaboration also draws from Ostrom's (2009) work on the Institutional Analysis and Development (IAD) framework, using actors, rules, and norms as a basis for understanding governance and improving results. This conceptualization of clusters may offer a starting point and broad structural framework to understand the relations between different actors in the context of the nitrogen crisis. Therefore, it provides insight into the more systemic factors driving the crisis. Based on this conceptualization, actors grouped into clusters, play different roles within the norms that govern the distribution of knowledge and power. The Davos cluster represents the power dynamics which uphold the status quo in the interest of the fossil fuel industry, whereas the 'enabler cluster' is what grants legitimacy to it. The latter, as the enabler, may also hold power to initiate change; its power is of instrumental value. Enablers hold a high level of technical knowledge and expertise. The norms which govern change are guided by the 'ostrich cluster', actors which hinder change, and the 'phoenix cluster', actors which enable or catalyze change. Rather than in institutions and instruments, their power lies in ideas (Stoddard et al, 2021).

To understand the systemic context of the policy design of the PAS, I review individual steps within the policy design process in reference to these clusters. I expect to observe a similar dynamic as represented in *Figure 4*.



Figure 4: Clusters behind crises — Expectations on dynamics between actors

Within the context of the policy process of the nitrogen crisis, actors who support the dominant paradigms of the 'Davos cluster' are instead referred to as 'stiflers'. Organizations representing the interests of intensive animal agriculture farmers, such as the LTO (*Land- en Tuinbouw Organisatie Nederland*), may be categorized as such stiflers. While these measures have been targeted toward reducing nitrogen, they have been insufficient; high-level policy makers within the Dutch government may also be classified as stiflers, making decisions within the dominant paradigm of preserving economic interests.

Enablers, on the other hand, do not make decisions and rather validate them or guide them. Researchers of agricultural universities (such as the Wageningen University of Research, or WUR) and non-governmental agricultural organizations may be considered part of this cluster. Their role as enablers of the nitrogen crisis has been challenged by the environmental organizations who have sued the government over their insufficient measures (Sumter, 2021). Hence, these environmental organizations, can be mapped as part of the phoenix cluster. The ostrich cluster may be disregarded for the purpose of this analysis, as its role in guiding policy design is limited.

2.5 Theoretical expectations

The MSF is helpful to theorize about when and how a policy becomes part of the agenda, whereas the clusters may be useful to understand how different groups of actors interact and reconfigure the three streams into a more generalizable model of understanding crises. Hence, I integrate both theories to formulate three theoretical expectations on the role of each cluster in the policy design, based on the background of the PAS and knowledge of the MSF.

- 1. Stifler: Actors in the stifler cluster, i.e., high-level policy makers or 'policy entrepreneurs', use deliberate efforts to couple the three streams in such a way that the PAS supports economic interests over environmental protection.
- 2. Enabler: Actors in the enabler cluster were hindered from effectively influencing the policy or problem stream to avoid a crisis due to a dynamic of distributing knowledge and power that the PAS developed under.
- **3. Phoenix:** Actors in the phoenix cluster in support of environmentally more transformative approaches were unable to effectively contribute their ideas to the debate on solutions as they did not participate in the policy design process of the PAS.

3. Methods

3.1 Research design

This research focuses on a single case study, the Dutch nitrogen crisis, within a broad scope of contextual information, traced over time. A single case study may be useful to understand causal mechanisms in-depth and contribute to high conceptual validity (George & Bennett, 2005). Following the sub-questions outlined in section 1.2, the analysis includes important decisions taken between 2008 and 2015, involved actors, and their influence on policy design. I use this information to map out the decision-making process behind the Dutch nitrogen crisis and identify factors behind it, testing the expectations formulated in section 2.5.

The research design combines exploratory and explanatory research: exploring the usefulness of established and emerging theories of policy design and failure related to environmental crises and explaining the nitrogen crisis as an outcome of the policy process. I use causal process tracing (CPT), a systematic qualitative analysis using public documents (policy papers, strategic documents) and media articles (ref. *Table 1*). For the proposed research, both generalization and particularization strategies for process tracing are employed: The aim is to understand a particular event through a theoretical lens and refine existing models using empirical evidence. The evidence is provided in form of the interactions between actors, or factors in form of AFIs reframed within the MSF, and the resulting decisions regarding the policy design. Such outcome-explaining process tracing analysis, at a sufficient level of detail, may provide a substantial source of causal inference (George & Bennett, 2005). It is this inference about influential factors that leads to an answer to the main research question.

3.2 Data collection

The documents are selected to provide insight on the relevant stakeholders involved in influencing the government's approach to the emerging nitrogen crisis. For reasons of feasibility, I select documents from the eight years leading up to the adaptation of the PAS in July 2015 (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019). Inclusion and exclusion criteria are used according to *Table 1* to narrow down the available evidence.

The focus lies on policy papers, advisory documents, public statements, and media articles. Media articles are preferably selected from more neutral and respectable sources. Hence, both primary and secondary sources are utilized for the analysis. Whereas primary sources are used to identify and ascertain key events and involved stakeholders, secondary sources such as investigative news reports provide additional context on the meaning of the events within the larger context of the PAS.

Table 1: Inclusion a	nd exclusion	criteria fo	or documents	eligible as	evidence
----------------------	--------------	-------------	--------------	-------------	----------

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Legal texts concerning the EU Habitats Directive and Natuurbeschermingswet (NBW) as released before 2015	Other legal texts or forms of texts adopted after 2015
Draft papers, statements, voting results, and transcripts published in the years 2008-2015, concerning the PAS	Draft papers, statements, voting results, and transcripts published before 2008 or after 2015
Advisory reports from the MER, PBL, administrative court, and taskforces specifically dedicated to the nitrogen issue	Advisory reports concerning any other subject or from any other organization
Court rulings in 2008, 2019 from the Dutch administrative court and the European Court of Justice on the matter of Dutch nitrogen policy	Court rulings from other years
Newspaper articles from <i>Trouw</i> , <i>NRC</i> after the year of 2008, concerning appointed state secretaries of the ministries in charge of the PAS and/or the PAS itself	Any other newspaper, any articles from before 2008
Scientific articles on the topic of political discourse on the matter of nature conservation between 2008 and 2015	Any other scientific literature

In preparation of the CPT, a preliminary document review is conducted as a tool for evidence synthesis. Using this tool, relevant, publicly accessible documents, such as the PAS or the regulation on the protection of Natura 2000 areas, are gathered as evidence. More generally, documents are used as evidence to reproduce a timeline of events leading up to the court case. Four phases are identified as cornerstones of the causal analysis. Hence, an initial review may provide an overview of the available evidence. A focus on a specific timeframe, key decisions, events within that timeframe, and involved actors, is helpful to select from the evidence.

3.3 Operationalization and data analysis

Process tracing, however popular within qualitative social science research, can take many forms in practice. The debate on what constitutes 'good' process tracing research design has not been conclusive. As a guideline, seven steps ought to be completed: First, initial assumptions about causal mechanisms are built from theory. Second, a time frame to focus the analysis needs to be determined, and a timeline of events is established. As a third step, causal graphs are constructed to understand the events. In the present thesis, these graphs built upon the conceptual frameworks laid out in the MSF (Kingdon, 2011) and dynamics between clusters of actors (Stoddard et al., 2021). Next, alternative events or choices are identified at each step of the timeline, and the alternative outcomes. Lastly, the available evidence is used to either support or reject the initial expectations (Ricks & Liu, 2018). Using these steps, it is possible analyze whether the conceptual framework on the causal mechanisms behind an environmental crisis (*Fig. 3-4*) can be applied to this specific, real-world case (Beach & Brun Pedersen, 2019).

Before presenting the process tracing analysis, I investigate the legal considerations of the PAS and provide a brief overview of events between 2008 and 2015. The policy process is divided into four phases, from which I focus on the first three for further assessment of the policy design. The selected evidence from this time frame is analyzed to first outline important factors and decisions as pertaining to the present outcome in relation to the involved actors, in chronological order. I construct causal graphs of how different actors, factors and outcomes are linked, using the MSF. Actors that *did* and that *are likely* to have impacted the outcome are included based on the assessed evidence. This causal model is used to reflect on the mechanisms leading to the outcome and compare them with the narrative lenses suggested by Stoddard et al (2021). In this process, excluded actors or alternative outcomes are highlighted. The findings are used to formulate answers to the sub-questions (ref. 1.2), reflect on expectations (ref. 2.5), and answer the main research question.

4. Analysis

In the first section of the analysis, I answer the first two empirical sub-questions by describing how the PAS violates the EU Habitats Directive, and how its policy design process can be outlined. The following sections focus on the third empirical sub question on the actors involved in the policy design and the consequential deductions about possible alternative outcomes, leading to an answer to the main research question. Kingdon's MSF is applied to categorize the influence of individual actors and events on the policy design. The clusters, as adapted from Stoddard et al (2021), are used to match actors accordingly.

4.1 Legal considerations on the policy design of the PAS

In 2019, the Council of State, or *Raad van State*, the highest administrative court of the Netherlands, determines that assumptions underlying the PAS, specifically regarding the impact of future nitrogen reductions, do not meet the requirements of the EU Habitats Directive (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019). This confirmed the ruling of the European court of justice in 2018, brought forward by the NGOs *Mobilitzation for the Environment* and *Vereniging Leefmilieu* (InfoCuria, 2018).

The documents relevant in determining the legal considerations for nature conservation in the policy design of the PAS are the EU Habitats Directive of 1992, the NBW of 1998, and its renewed version, the *Wet Natuurbescherming*, in force since 2017. An amendment to the NBW, enforced in January 2010, is what put forward the idea for the PAS: The Dutch government faced an obligation to formulate a realistic program to reduce nitrogen for the protection of Natura 2000 areas, to be renewed at least every six years, as stipulated in Art. 19kg (Economische Zaken, 2016). Eventually, this program was formulated and

adopted in 2015. The PAS considered that grazing and fertilization are activities which do not require a permit. This exemption is contrary to the EU Habitat Directive, specifically Art. 6 §3:

"Any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site but likely to have a significant effect thereon, either individually or in combination with other plans or projects, shall be subject to appropriate assessment of its implications for the site in view of the site's conservation objectives. In the light of the conclusions of the assessment of the implications for the site and subject to the provisions of paragraph 4, the competent national authorities shall agree to the plan or project only after having ascertained that it will not adversely affect the integrity of the site concerned and, if appropriate, after having obtained the opinion of the general public." (EUR-Lex, 1992, p. 7)

Grazing and the use of fertilizers near nature conservation sites can be considered as projects, or part of projects, which are likely to have a significant impact on the Natura 2000 sites in their vicinity. Therefore, appropriate assessments need to be conducted, and it has been concluded that in addition to relying on misdirected assumptions, the measures of the PAS do not sufficiently address required assessments (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019). The Council of State, after considering the ruling of the European court of justice, decided that the PAS may no longer serve as a basis for the processing of permits, due to this misalignment (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019). Further, to achieve nature conservation objectives, the PAS ought to include measures to reduce nitrogen immediately. However, in its implemented, phased-out version, these measures were lacking (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019).

4.2 Outline of the policy design process of the PAS

The purpose of the PAS was to provide a comprehensive policy on the regulation of permits for projects that have an impact on nitrogen depositions, such as building construction or farming. This followed from the need for a more streamlined approach on how to process permit applications. The goal, from the very beginning, was to allow room for economic development while reducing nitrogen depositions overall. In this section, I establish the timeframe of the analysis and an outline of the events in the policy design process of the PAS (*Fig. 5*).

Agenda Setting. The Natura 2000 areas in the Netherlands, established over several decades, bring about legal consequences for projects developing in their vicinity (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019). The development of livestock farming raises concerns (Overheid, 2016). In 2008, the Council of State shuts down a policy framework for the regulation of permits affecting nitrogen depositions, specifically for ammonia, on the grounds of nature conservancy concerns regarding the impact on Natura 2000 areas (LNV, 2009). This complicates the processing of permit applications greatly (Overheid, 2016). The question of how to address nitrogen and nature conservation objectives conflicts with the question of how to recover from the financial crisis. Carlo Trojan, a former high-ranking official of the EU, concludes that it is necessary to reduce nitrogen emissions drastically (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021). This is a turning point for nitrogen policy in the Netherlands. Thereafter, in 2009, an amendment is made to the already existing Crisis and Recovery Act, or Crisis- en herstelwet (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021) (Ministerie van Economische Zaken, 2010). This act, adopted in 2010, serves to support infrastructure development in the Netherlands, including projects which may have an impact on nitrogen depositions (Ministerie van Financiën, 2009) (Ministerie van Economische Zaken, 2010). The amendment includes the commission of a program regarding the regulation of permits and reduction of nitrogen and was introduced by representatives of the parties PvdA and CDA (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021). This collides with the beforementioned amendment made to the NBW: The PAS is not only a measure of nature conservation, but also one of economic development (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2010).

Policy formulation. A provisional version is published in early 2010 (VPAS), with the intention of formulating a finalized draft in 2010 (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2010). This is an emergency measure: the economy is under pressure (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021). It is also the year of the beginning of the Rutte administration (Ministerie van Algemene Zaken, 2023).

Preoperative evaluation. In the following year, a first critical report on the VPAS was published based on an environmental impact assessment, or *milieueffectrapport*, MER, in Dutch. The report concludes that there are concerns over the legal permissibility of the PAS considering the requirements of the EU Habitat directive (Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage, 2011). Several other reports and advisory papers confirmed this criticism (Julen, 2019). A definitive draft was submitted to the Council of State on the 9th of February 2012 (DPAS) (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2013). However, criticisms remained (Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage, 2013) (PBL, 2014). A preliminary draft was submitted in early 2015 (Ministerie van Economische Zaken & Ministerie van Infrastructuur en Milieu, 2015). Again, the MER concluded that concerns have not been eliminated, as published in a report of May 2015 (Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage).

Adaptation. Finally, in July of 2015, the PAS was adopted shortly after a final draft is submitted, and it allows permits to be granted *under the condition* that future measures would be taken to reduce nitrogen depositions (Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek, 2019).



Figure 5: Timeline of events in the policy design process, 2008 – 2015

4.3 Actors in the policy design process of the PAS

In this section, I discuss the role different actors, groups, and institutions in the policy design using the MSF, and determine the outcomes by analyzing the drafts at different stages (purpose statements in 2009-2010, official drafts of 2010, 2012, and 2015). I focus on 'outcomes' in the sense of concrete events that played a role in neglecting the issue of nitrogen depositions from farming operations near Natura 2000 areas and are a result of interactions between actors. I structure this part of the analysis by breaking the policy design process up in three stages, according to section 4.2.

Agenda Setting. 2008 to May 2010.

The problem of nitrogen depositions and permit applications for new projects found its way onto the government agenda in 2008. Under the *Toetsingskader Ammoniak*, an assessment framework for ammonia, it was suggested that an amendment is made to the NBW to allow for an easier procedure of permits relating to the expansion of livestock operations (Willink, 2009). The proposed amendment built on a report of

2007, written by Alterra, an institute at the WUR, and the ECN, the centrum for energy research of the Netherlands (Gies et al., 2007). However, the administrative court shut down the amendment, arguing that the scenarios described in the report are too optimistic and an implementation of such a law would be in violation of the EU Habitats Directive (Willink, 2009). Therefore, the problem persisted.

State secretary Gerda Verburg (CDA, known as conservative farmer's party) responded to the administrative court's advice in a letter to parliament, aiming to find a solution to the problem (LNV, 2009). Verburg contended that there ought to be room for development, also for the expansion of livestock operations, within the legal framework of the EU Habitats Directive (LNV, 2009). Already before the election of 2012, the conflict between environmental and economic development formed part of the problem. At this stage, Verburg planned to consult the LTO as a representative of the livestock industry, nature organizations, and the government (LNV, 2009). The state secretary commissioned a task force led by former EU official Carlo Trojan, which concluded that nitrogen depositions in the Netherlands must be reduced (Taskforce Stikstof/ammoniak in relatie tot Natura 2000, 2008). Verburg responded to this report in June of 2009 by acknowledging that there is room for a new regulation on how permits should be processed, however, this will only be investigated further after the summer (Verburg, 2008). Earlier, Verburg commissioned a second task force under PvdA member Servaas Huys, De Adviesgroep Huys, a rather informal working group producing a report on how a programmatic approach may be realized: within a matter of weeks, the task force concluded that there is room for development, however, the NBW and case law may complicate this and the urgency of the situation may call for changes to the law (De Adviesgroep Huys, 2009).

In November of 2009, Ger Koopmans (CDA) and Diederik Samson (PvdA) suggested an amendment to the *Crisis- en Herstelwet*, an emergency law, and parliament approved it on the 18th (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021) (Ministerie van Economische Zaken, 2010). It is this amendment that calls upon government to formulate a programmatic approach to nitrogen, implemented in cycles of a maximum length of six years.

Policy formulation. June 2010.

A preliminary version of said approach is published in June 2010, the VPAS (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2010). Although the LTO and nature organizations were mentioned previously as consulted parties, there is no mention of them in the VPAS (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2010). Mentioned stakeholders are the ministers of the LNV (agriculture, nature, and food quality) and the VROM (spatial planning), as well as the VenW (traffic and water), ministry of economic affairs, and the provinces, represented by the IPO and VNG (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2010). Further, the EU is mentioned as a party who was informed about the VPAS in broad strokes, however, there is no confirmation of the EU's approval (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2010). The VPAS sets the course for the development of a definitive approach.

Preoperative Evaluation. July 2010 to June 2015.

Parliament elections of October 2010 resulted in a new political landscape as Mark Rutte, member of the liberal VVD, becomes prime minister (Ministerie van Algemene Zaken, 2023). The CDA is no longer the leading party in parliament. Under this new administration, the LNV and the EZ merged into a new ministry, the ministry of economic affairs, agriculture, and innovation. 'Nature' no longer formed part of the title and ceased to be part of the top priorities of government (Trouw, 2011) (Julen, 2019). Henk Bleker, himself a farmer from Groningen, became state minister of said new ministry and takes over from Verburg (Trouw, 2011) (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021). He aimed to shift the policy discourse further away from nature conservation and toward nature as a resource for use by humans, drastically reduced the budget available for nature conservation, and built strong ties to the livestock industry and farmers (Trouw, 2011).

In March 2011, an independent commission published a critical report assessing the potential environmental impact of the VPAS (Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage, 2011). The report recommends that to meet legal obligations of the EU Habitats Directive, the PAS should provide certainty about the time in which nature conservation goals are to be achieved, or if not, it may be difficult to defend the licensing of new projects (Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage, 2011). Like the advice on the *Toetsingskader Ammoniak* of the administrative court, and the later judgement in 2019, the commission referred to Article 6 of the directive in support of their report (Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage, 2011). The commission, known as the MER, continued to submit reports on behalf of the ministry throughout the development of the PAS.

A first definitive version of the PAS was submitted in February 2012 under state minister Henk Bleker (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2013a). It had a phased-out approach for nature conservation measures, intending to leave room for development while implementing conservation or restoration measures in a later cycle (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2013a).

The DPAS was submitted to the administrative court, which responded two months later by raising concerns about three key features of the DPAS: One, its reliance on the minister of infrastructure and environment to allocate room for development, rather than process permits on a more local level by the appropriate authorities (Raad van State, 2012). Two, that the NBW considers immediate action for the reduction of nitrogen depositions and the restoration of Natura 2000 areas, whereas the DPAS assumes a phased approach (Raad van State, 2012). Three, that the EU Habitats Directive requires certainty about the achievement of nature conservation objectives, and there are concerns about the uncertainty on whether nature conservation objectives can be achieved within an appropriate period, given the preconditions of the current situation in the Netherlands (Raad van State, 2012). In other words, according to the administrative court, the assumptions underlying the DPAS are not compatible with the EU Habitats Directive.

In June of 2012, after the court's evaluation and with the parliament's support, the NBW was changed to allow for a phased-out approach and leave room for development without immediate action on nature conservation (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2013a). Yet, weeks after the amendments, the MER published a report on the DPAS, raising concerns about assigning room for development without a guarantee of achieving nature conservation goals, again on the grounds of the requirements of the EU Habitats Directive (Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage, 2012). Bleker responded to concerns of the MER in August, ascertaining that in his view, it is possible to proceed with assigning room for economic development and without investing in nature restoration first (Ministerie van Economische Zaken, Landbouw en Innovatie, 2012).

This is the general direction that the policy design of the PAS was headed into as of summer 2012: A phased-out approach giving priority to room for development over nature conservation. Following the reelection of Mark Rutte as Prime Minister in September 2012, Bleker resigned from his position and was replaced with Co Verdaas from the PvdA (Trouw, 2012). However, Verdaas was forced to resign only a few weeks after (Trouw, 2012). The new state secretary, Sharon Dijksma, took his office in December 2012 and remained in office until after the adoption of the PAS (Zuidervaart, 2014). She, also, is a member of the PvdA (Zuidervaart, 2014). Although serving the 'labor party', she was also heading a ministry under a liberal cabinet and thus navigates conflicting interests, with limited knowledge of the subject.

It is known that both Bleker and Dijksma had meetings with the LTO (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021). And it was suggested that Gerda Verburg, also, had met with them (LNV, 2009). Yet, Dijksma added 90 more Natura 2000 areas to the network in her time as state secretary for economic affairs, agriculture, and innovation, when there used to be less than 30 under Bleker (Zuidervaart, 2014). It is unlikely that Henk Bleker would have foreseen this to happen. It further complicated the later implementation of the PAS

concerning the development of agricultural activities, as more protected areas meant more concerns about their conservation. In interviews with ecologists in charge of creating an assessment of the Natura 2000 areas as a basis for the PAS, it is revealed that the scientists faced pressure to not conclude that any site would be in too poor of a condition to legally allow for further allocation of room for development (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021). The MER submitted their evaluation of the assessment report of the PAS regarding its level of detail and scope in June 2013, emphasizing the need for clarity about how nature conservation goals will be achieved and consider worst case scenarios, rather than be too optimistic (Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage, 2013). However, the assessment reports were rewritten by ministry officials to fit the optimistic narrative before being handed to the ecologists for signatures (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021). Meanwhile in parliament, amendments to the PAS aiming to fix beforementioned criticisms, including an amendment on leaving the authority of allocating space for development in the hands of the appropriate officials, submitted by PvdD member Esther Ouwehand, were rejected (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2013b).

In 2014, Dijksma supported an agreement with stakeholders from the livestock farming sector, including the LTO as well as dairy, animal feed, and poultry industry representatives, to further reduce nitrogen depositions based on voluntary measures (Ministerie van Economische Zaken, 2014). Interestingly, this voluntary agreement contains a paragraph under the article for monitoring, reporting and evaluation which declares that a working group, consisting of all the involved parties of this agreement, including stakeholders of the livestock farming sector, shall create an inventory report based on numbers of third parties to assess both the reduction of ammonia emissions and the amount of deposition and development space made available to the livestock sector (Ministerie van Economische Zaken, 2014). This report, then, within ten days of its submission to the responsible authority at the ministry, is sent to all the involved parties of the PAS (Ministerie van Economische Zaken, 2014).

During a plenary debate of the PAS on April 16th, 2014, Dijksma defended the PAS as she responds to the report of the MER, ascertaining that the assessment report is carried out to the highest standard, and dismissed criticisms of the opposition, gaining support of the parliament (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2014) (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021). On April 24th, 144 of 150 members of parliament voted in favour (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2014). Only GroenLinks and the PvdD, parties which are considered 'green', voted against (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2014).

The Planbureau van de Leefomgeving (PBL), in collaboration with Marlies Sander from the WUR, submitted a first critical report on the PAS in October 2014 (PBL, 2014). The report concludes that the assumption that future conservation and restoration measures will effectively undo the damage done by present developments is highly uncertain and that recovery measures are necessary already within the first cycle of implementation (PBL, 2014). As voting had already concluded, there was no official response to this report from the side of the state secretary directed at the parliament. A final draft of the PAS was submitted on January 10th of 2015 (Ministerie van Economische Zaken & Ministerie van Infrastructuur en Milieu, 2015).

The MER, as requested by state secretary Dijksma, submitted a provisional report in March of 2015, highlighting again that it remains uncertain whether nature conservation objectives may be achieved, even considering future measures, specifically considering the potential activities and room for development allowed by the PAS in its current state (Commissie voor de millieueffectrapportage, 2015a). This is not what Dijksma highlighted in her response when addressing parliament in April: based on a single footnote in the report, referring an unspecified case law, it is suggested that there is a chance that the allocation of room for development might not harm the realization of relevant nature conservation goals (Commissie voor de millieueffectrapportage, 2015a) (Dijksma, 2015). Judging by the wording, this is uncertain. The finalized version of this report is published in May (Commissie voor de millieueffectrapportage, 2015b).

4.4 Understanding the policy design process in terms of the MSF

The following figures (ref. *Fig. 6-8*) translate insights from the previous process analysis (ref. 4.3) into the MSF to explain the emergence of policy windows at different stages of the PAS, starting with the VPAS and ending with its adoption.

Figure 6 visualizes the initial stage of the policy design process. At this point, it was state secretary Gerda Verburg who first explored what an integrated approach on the nitrogen issue may look like. At this stage, the conflict between environmental and economic interests was at the heart of the problem and remains unsolved. It was not clear yet that room for economic development should take priority over nature conservation measures.





Figure 7 shows the effect of the change of administration following the elections in 2010. Henk Bleker, the new state secretary for a new ministry in charge of the PAS, pushed for 'room for development' and was optimistic about the legal tenability of the PAS. Support from a more liberal administration allows for changes to the NBW to dismiss concerns as the DPAS is published and proceeded with. Although political support played a significant role, this change would not have been initiated without the efforts of Henk Bleker as policy entrepreneur. It was his goal to remove nature conservation from the agenda and prioritize economic development.



Figure 7: The DPAS, explained using the MSF and Henk Bleker as policy entrepreneur

Figure 8: The adopted PAS, explained using the MSF and Sharon Dijksma as policy entrepreneur



The ministry of economic affairs (EZ) was rewriting reports of ecologists, which form the scientific basis of the PAS, to ensure that there is room for development (Van Bokkum & Leijten, 2021). While this is not in line with the goals of the EU Habitats Directive, it is in line with the narrative of this new problem definition: the PAS must be adopted to ensure this, and it must be a measure which can be legally justified under the EU Habitats Directive. Whereas previously, the goal of nature conservation was simply disregarded as to be of lower priority, it now must be artificially removed as a legal concern. Further, the parliament needs to vote in favor of the PAS despite those concerns. This is the challenge that Sharon Dijksma faced as a policy entrepreneur. Yet, due to time pressure and the construction of a politically convincing narrative, the PAS is adopted, as outlined in *Figure 8*.

4.5 Understanding the policy design process in terms of clusters of actors

In this section, I use the results of the analysis in sections 4.2 - 4.4 to group actors into the three clusters, building upon the expectations visualized in *Figure 4*. The policy entrepreneurs, as high-level policy makers, are part of the stifler cluster, and so are their respective ministries. Both figures are compared next to each other in *Figure 9*. This figure serves as a model of the observed dynamics between clusters of actors. The model is useful to assess the systematic factors involved in the policy regarding the EU Habitats Directive. Based on this model of the observed dynamics between actors and the insights from applying the MSF to the policy design process at different stages, I determine which factors have been most influential in the development of the PAS. Consequently, I assess which alternative outcomes could have been achieved within this dynamic, under different circumstances. The role of actors, context, and the dynamic itself is reflected on critically.

Although similar, there are some important differences between the expected and observed dynamics (*Fig.* 9). What hindered the phoenix cluster from affecting the policy design of the PAS is that the enabler cluster itself faces a challenge in effectively engaging with policy makers. This is due to the stifler cluster's selective engagement. If a taskforce concludes that nitrogen must be reduced immediately, a second taskforce is set up to create a narrative for room for development first (*Fig.* 5). Legal concerns of the administrative court are not regarded as a reason toPAS change the policy, but to instead to change the law that it falls under (*Fig.* 6). When the MER published critical reports, the ministry in charge of the PAS focused on the information that is relevant to supporting the already existing narrative (*Fig.* 7). The stifler cluster, specifically the policy entrepreneurs that form part of it, hold power over the enabler cluster and the distribution of knowledge to decision-makers.

Therefore, a first key difference is that the stifler cluster is not simply a group of actors resisting change from outside forces. It is instead a powerful, strategic actor which may limit the extent to which other clusters can influence policy through ideas or information. The phoenix cluster may attempt to challenge this development; however, it is hindered in doing so as the stifler cluster is also powerful in dismissing their ideas. This is the second difference between the expected and observed dynamics. A third last, but important difference is that sustainable farmers have been missing from the observed actors involved in the policy design, whereas representatives of the livestock industry are granted an especially powerful status as part of the stifler cluster.

Within this dynamic, the stifler cluster is enabled to reinforce its own narrative. This is evident from the changing conception of the problem: with each stage of the policy design process, the perception of the problem changes further away from nature conservation, and more toward enabling room for economic development (ref. *Fig. 5-7*). This dynamic reached a breaking point with the court ruling in 2019, at which the phoenix cluster succeeds in attacking this narrative. Yet, even within this dynamic, there are ways in which the outcome could have been different.



Figure 9: Knowledge and power dynamics in the policy design of the PAS

What is evident from the assessment using the MSF is that within the policy stream, actors of the enabler cluster consistently criticized the PAS due to legal concerns (ref. Fig. 5-7). That this had a very limited effect on the design of the PAS can be explained using both the clusters and the MSF. The outcome could have likely been different if either the definition of the problem had remained consistent with the goals of the EU Habitats Directive and the advice of the taskforce Trojan, or if the politics stream had not formed itself to support the PAS as a measure for economic development. In both cases, the PAS could not have been adopted the way it has been. In the first case, a change can be observed after a second taskforce concludes that there may be room for development. However, it is only after the 2010 elections that this advice is used to construct a new conception of the problem and direct attention toward finding a solution that prioritizes economic development. Under this new liberal administration, Henk Bleker sees an opportunity to set this narrative in action: bringing together all three policy streams to put the DPAS on the agenda and make changes to the NBW. In the second case, a possible alternative scenario could be that the elections in 2010 or 2012 would have resulted in more political support for nature conservation and immediate action on nitrogen reduction as a priority. In this case, a phased-out approach would have likely been rejected, and the actors of the stifler and phoenix cluster might have been in reverse positions, with policy entrepreneurs emerging from the green political parties and pushing for stricter conservation measures.

In other words, under different circumstances and with actors taking different positions, the same dynamic could contribute to a different outcome. However, the politics stream throughout the development of the PAS provides continued support for a solution that allows for the continued pursuit of economic interests. And, curiously, the EU itself appears to have no significant role in affecting this development.

4.6 Main findings

In this section, I summarize the results of the analysis as I answer the sub-questions stated in the introduction (ref. 1.2, *Table 2*) and confirm or reject the expectations as listed at the end of the theory section (ref. 2.5, *Table 3*).

From the perspective of policy design and to understand misalignment with EU law, the factors addressed in the MSF and previous literature on the governance of crises should be considered more carefully in the context of the PAS. This focus is reasonable to assess how the Dutch government came to have misdirected assumptions about the relevance of included measures in addressing requirements of the EU Habitats Directive. The conflict between environmental and economic interests unravels as with each important decision within the policy design process, the PAS grants higher priority to economic development than nature conservation (*Table 2*).

Within this conflict, different clusters interact in such a dynamic that this priority cannot be challenged effectively (*Table 3*).

Sub-question	Answer		
Theoretical sub-question:1. Which factors lead to policy failure from the perspective of policy design?	Policy design may be misguided due to how knowledge and power is distributed, changing definitions of problems, changes in political support, decision-making under time pressure, and the influence of policy entrepreneurs.		

Table 2: Sub-questions and answers

Sub-question	Answer
Empirical sub-questions:1. Which policy measures of the PAS violate the EU Habitats Directive, and how?	As described in section 4.1., it is the underlying assumptions of the PAS, including the lack of appropriate assessment for the licensing of livestock operations, which led to the court case of 2019. This judgement is based on Article 3 of the EU Habitats Directive.
2. Which important decisions can be identified within the policy design process relating to this violation?	Important decisions are outlined in sections 4.2 and 4.3 and may be summed up as: formulation of the VPAS, changes to the NBW, rejection of amendments, voting results of the PAS.
3. Which actors influenced the choice of policy measures, and how?	Actors of the stifler cluster, most notably Henk Bleker as a policy entrepreneur, enabled a phased- out approach of the PAS and the prioritization of room for development despite numerous criticisms (ref. 4.3-4.5).

Table 3: Expectations & results

Expectation	Result
Stifler: Actors in the stifler cluster, i.e., high-level policy makers or 'policy entrepreneurs', use deliberate efforts to couple the three streams in such a way that the PAS supports economic interests over environmental protection.	Confirmed. The stifler cluster, consisting of the policy entrepreneurs and representatives of the livestock industry, strategically influenced the policy design of the PAS to allow more room for development.
Enabler: Actors in the enabler cluster were hindered from effectively influencing the policy or problem stream to avoid a crisis due to a dynamic of distributing knowledge and power that the PAS developed under.	Confirmed. Actors in the enabler cluster faced challenges in effectively influencing the policy or problem stream as, within the observed dynamic between actor clusters, the stifler cluster used its power to selectively engage with the knowledge presented by the enabler cluster.
Phoenix: Actors in the phoenix cluster in support of environmentally more transformative approaches were unable to effectively contribute their ideas to the debate on solutions as they did not participate in the policy design process of the PAS.	Rejected. Actors in the phoenix cluster did participate in the policy design of the PAS, however, they were still unable to effectively change it.

5. Conclusion

In this last chapter, I formulate an answer to the research question based on the sub-questions and observed results. I include a discussion of the results vis-à-vis existing research and its practical implications. This is followed by suggestions for future research based on the limitations and insights of the present study. Finally, I consider the implications of the findings based on the study's scientific and societal relevance.

5.1 Answer to the research question

The present bachelor thesis investigated the question: Which factors within the policy design process of the Programma Aanpak Stikstof (PAS) in the years between 2008 and 2015 can be used to explain the Dutch government's failure to design a nitrogen policy in line with the EU Habitats Directive?

Analyzing the policy design process within this period has been a humbling and repetitive experience. The leading factor behind the government's failure to design a policy in line with the EU Habitats Directive is the role of Henk Bleker as policy entrepreneur in facilitating the DPAS and changes to the NBW. Contributing factors are developments in the politics stream which lead to political support for the PAS and a favorable conception of the problem that the PAS ought to solve. If the changes to the NBW had not been made, for example, there would have been no legal basis for a phased-out approach. More generally, there appears to be a dynamic between clusters of actors which reinforces a narrative in support of liberal, economic interests, and, in part due to this dynamic, a lack or only limited involvement of actors who could effectively challenge this narrative. This narrative clashes with the nature conservation objectives of the EU Habitats Directive.

5.2 Discussion and implications

It is possible to contrast the theory and background introduced in section 2.1-2.4 with the observed dynamics and outcomes. Considering recent developments of agricultural governance in the Netherlands, it is interesting how the PAS mimics a past pattern. As with the drastic measures taken to save Dutch farmers in times of economic crisis in the 1930s, the PAS also emerged during an economic crisis and alongside new institutions with more power to influence agricultural development.

When reflecting on the case of the climate crisis as presented by Stoddard et al. (2021), a key difference between the nitrogen crisis in the Netherlands and the continuously rising carbon emissions is that the Netherlands originally had been an ambitious and active leader in support of nature conservation measures. Yet, the discourse has changed, and the dynamics underlying it have reinforced this new status quo. Hence, it is even more interesting to understand how it may be structures themselves, specifically the structures of the knowledge systems that policy design relies on, could be transformed to escape this trap of lock-in mechanisms (Groen et al, 2023).

The role of inequity within the dynamics of clusters is highlighted as a driver for stability in face of crises (Stoddard et al., 2021). Inequity between clusters allows actors who benefit from the status quo to defend their interests (Stoddard et al., 2021). The social imaginaries of the phoenix cluster, such as the ecologists working on assessment reports or the green political parties, are participating in the policy design process of the PAS, yet there is no basis for cooperative political action. This insight may be connected to the argument that crises are more likely to occur when governments treat environmental challenges as a matter of the state only (Hepburn, 2010).

More explicitly, it is not the lack of involvement of non-governmental actors that leads to failure. It is the vested interests of the powerful stifler cluster that drives governments to include or exclude actors and

knowledge, such that the policy design stands upon a knowledge system which is inherently inequitable. Even if non-governmental actors are involved within this system, their power is too limited to contribute toward transformations. In other words, it is the centralization of power in the stifler cluster that leads to crises.

A rather obvious practical implication of the findings is that scientists who produce environmental impact assessments to inform policy design need to be guaranteed independence, i.e., work at a distance from political influences (Helm, 2010). However, it is difficult to imagine how such protections should be implemented without decentralization, and with decentralization, they may no longer be necessary.

Given the relevance of voting results in determining the political support for a specific solution, it may be useful to consider ways in which voters can be enabled to understand the complexity of the nitrogen issue before it becomes a crisis. As an optimistic take, raising awareness for the cross-border and cross-sectional issue that nitrogen depositions represent may not only produce different voting outcomes, but also entirely different systems of knowledge and arenas of competition as different nations collaborate to address the matter.

A further observation to make is that the EU itself had a very limited supervisory role in the policy design process of the PAS, and that the regulations laid out by the EU Habitats Directive may not offer enough certainty about what is expected from member states. The EU may need to offer more concrete guidance on how laws on environmental protection should be translated into national and regional policy.

5.3 Limitations and future research

The present thesis is a first attempt at systematically analyzing the policy process behind the nitrogen crisis, from the perspective of knowledge and power. This bears the consequence that this is both a new research area, and a new angle, with no established method of analysis. Although the topic is of great salience, the interpretation of the results of this initial assessment could benefit from some critical reservations. In this section, I reflect on the limitations of the presented analysis and suggest areas of improvement for future research.

Any analysis of a phenomenon as complex as the nitrogen crisis will be selective and partial. Due to time constraints and feasibility concerns involved in working on a bachelor thesis, the scope of the literature assessed for process tracing has been narrowed down to only eight years. Future research may consider a discourse and document analysis ranging from the adoption of the EU Habitats Directive in 1992 up to the court case in 2019, to determine whether policy windows could have been opened at an earlier or later stage.

Only publicly accessible documents could be considered for the document analysis, which increases the uncertainty about the extent to which the results reflect the involvement of different actors. As the document analysis relies in part on online data from the 2000s and research on the subject is lacking, there may be gaps within the available evidence. Consequently, the motivation for the highlighted factors is vague. Given more resources, a scoping review on the subject, including non-public and non-digital documents, could be conducted. A systematic literature review may also be implemented.

The analysis aims to provide a sufficient level of detail, and yet may not include every observable, relevant detail within the traced policy design process, and it may not include all relevant actors. These constraints may reduce the validity of the findings. Given more time and higher proficiency in the Dutch language, the research could be supplemented with expert interviews, to confirm whether actors took an active role, how, and why.

While there is some uncertainty about the role of actors, the suggested model of the dynamics between them and its use in combination with the MSF itself contributes to the debate on the transition toward sustainable food systems. The varying knowledge systems underlying policy design in different EU member states may deserve further attention. Therefore, a similar approach could be used in research on other EU member states to understand power relations in the design of agricultural policy. A possible, relevant question leading from this is: How can EU member states transform their institutional design to effectively implement and collaborate on the realization of EU regulations on environmental protection?

6. List of references

- Ackrill, R., Kay, A., & Zahariadis, N. (2013). Ambiguity, multiple streams, and EU policy. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 20(6), 871–887. https://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2013.781824
- Beach, D., & Pedersen, R. B. (2019). Process-tracing Methods: Foundations and Guidelines.
- Bieleman, J. (2010). Five centuries of farming: A short history of Dutch agriculture 1500 2000.Wageningen Academic Publishers.
- Breuer, A., Malerba, D., Srigiri, S., & Balasubramanian, P. (2022). *Governing the Interlinkages between the SDGs: Approaches, Opportunities and Challenges.* Taylor & Francis.
- Capano, G., Howlett, M., Ramesh, M., & Virani, A. (2019). *Making Policies Work: First- and Second*order Mechanisms in Policy Design. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Doorne, M. A. J. (2019). Natuurbescherming en economische ontwikkeling: een kwestie van kiezen of delen? : de juridische aanvaardbaarheid van het programma aanpak stikstof (OCLC 1362448231). Tilburg University.
- Economische Zaken. (2016, April 14). *Natuurbeschermingswet 1998*. overheid.nl. Retrieved June 3, 2023, from https://wetten.overheid.nl/BWBR0009641/2016-04-14

EUREGIO. (2023, June 16). *Sti(c)kstof(f) LAB*.

European Commission. (2023, May 19). *CAP at a glance*. Agriculture and Rural Development. https://agriculture.ec.europa.eu/common-agricultural-policy/cap-overview/cap-glance_en

George, A. L., & Bennett, A. (2005). Case Studies and Theory Development in the Social Sciences.

- Groen, L., Alexander, M., King, J., Jager, N. W., & Huitema, D. (2022). Re-examining policy stability in climate adaptation through a lock-in perspective. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2022.2064535
- Helm, D. (2010). Government failure, rent-seeking, and capture: the design of climate change policy. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 26(2), 182–196. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grq006

Hepburn, C. (2010). Environmental policy, government, and the market. In Oxford Review of Economic Policy (Vol. 26, Issue 2, pp. 117–136). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grq016

- Hoefer, R. (2022). The Multiple Streams Framework: Understanding and Applying the Problems, Policies, and Politics Approach. *Journal of Policy Practice and Research*, 3(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42972-022-00049-2
- Ignaciuk, A. (2015). Adapting Agriculture to Climate Change. *OECD Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Working Papers*. https://doi.org/10.1787/5js08hwvfnr4-en
- Izdebski, A., Haldon, J., & Filipkowski, P. (2022). Perspectives on Public Policy in Societal-Environmental Crises: What the Future Needs from History. Springer Nature.

Kingdon, J. W. (2014). Agendas, Alternatives and Public Policies.

- Koetse, M. J., & Bouma, J. (2022). Incentivizing a regime change in Dutch agriculture. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 44, 265–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2022.08.001
- Leong, C., & Howlett, M. (2021). Policy Learning, Policy Failure, and the Mitigation of Policy Risks: Re-Thinking the Lessons of Policy Success and Failure. *Administration & Society*, 54(7), 1379– 1401. https://doi.org/10.1177/00953997211065344

Ministerie van Algemene Zaken. (2020, February 14). New steps to tackle nitrogen pollution offer prospects for farmers. News Item | Government.nl. https://www.government.nl/ministries/ministry-of-agriculture-nature-and-foodquality/news/2020/02/07/new-steps-to-tackle-nitrogen-pollution-offer-prospects-for-farmers Ministerie van Algemene Zaken. (2022, August 19). Natura 2000. Nature and Biodiversity |

Government.nl. https://www.government.nl/topics/nature-and-biodiversity/natura-2000

- Ministerie van Algemene Zaken. (2023, February 21). *Mark Rutte*. Government.nl. https://www.government.nl/government/members-of-cabinet/mark-rutte
- Nhamo, G., Odularu, G. O. A., & Mjimba, V. (2020). Scaling up SDGs Implementation: Emerging Cases from State, Development and Private Sectors. Springer Nature.
- Norton, R. D. (2005). Agricultural Development Policy: Concepts and Experiences. John Wiley & Sons.

Ostrom, E. (2009). Understanding Institutional Diversity. Princeton University Press.

- Ricks, J. I., & Liu, A. Y. (2018). Process-Tracing Research Designs: A Practical Guide. PS Political Science & Politics, 51(4), 842–846. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1049096518000975
- RIVM. (2020, January 16). *Nitrogen and PFAS suddenly big societal issues in the Netherlands*. Retrieved June 5, 2023, from https://www.rivm.nl/en/newsletter/content/2020/issue1/nitrogen-pfas-in-NL
- Stoddard, I., Anderson, K., Capstick, S., Carton, W., Depledge, J., Facer, K., Gough, C., Hache, F.,
 Hoolohan, C., Hultman, M., Hällström, N., Kartha, S., Klinsky, S., Kuchler, M., Lövbrand, E.,
 Nasiritousi, N., Newell, P., Peters, G. P., Sokona, Y., . . . Williams, M. (2021). Three Decades of
 Climate Mitigation: Why Haven't We Bent the Global Emissions Curve? In *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* (Vol. 46, Issue 1, pp. 653–689). Annual Reviews.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-012220-011104
- Stokstad, E. (2019). Nitrogen crisis threatens Dutch environment—and economy. *Science*, *366*(6470), 1180–1181. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.366.6470.1180

Sumter, D. (2021, February 18). What can we learn from the Dutch Nitrogen Crisis? Solutions for reforming the global food system. Centre for Sustainability. Retrieved June 5, 2023, from https://www.centre-for-sustainability.nl/news/what-can-we-learn-from-the-dutch-nitrogen-crisissolutions-for-reforming-the-global-food

- United Nations Environment Programme. (2023, January 16). Four reasons why the world needs to limit nitrogen pollution. *UNEP*. Retrieved May 21, 2023, from https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/story/four-reasons-why-world-needs-limit-nitrogen-pollution
- Van Der Heide, C. M., Silvis, H., & Heijman, W. (2011). Agriculture in the Netherlands: Its recent past, current state and perspectives. *Applied Studies in Agribusiness and Commerce*, 5(1–2), 23–28. https://doi.org/10.19041/apstract/2011/1-2/3
- WUR. (2022). *Nitrogen*. Wageningen University of Research. https://www.wur.nl/en/Dossiers/file/Nitrogen.htm

7. Data Appendix

Policy papers:

- Dijksma, S., & Schultz Van Haegen-Maas Geesternaus, M. (2015). Besluit van de Staatssecretaris van Economische Zaken en de Minister van Infrastructuur en Milieu van 10 juni 2015, nr. DGAN-NB/15076652 houdende vaststelling van het programma aanpak stikstof (Inwerkingtredingsbesluit programma aanpak stikstof). In *Staatscourant* (Nr. 18411). Retrieved June 9, 2023, from https://zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/stcrt-2015-18411.pdf
- Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal. (2010). *Her Voorlopige Programma Stikstof*. Retrieved June 3, 2023, from https://zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/blg-71911.pdf
- Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal. (2013a). *Programmatische Aanpak Stikstof (PAS). Concept definitieve versie t.b.v. Raad van State*. Parlementaire Monitor. Retrieved June 1, 2023, from https://zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/blg-206138.html
- Ministerie van Economische Zaken & Ministerie van Infrastructuur en Milieu. (2015). *Programma Aanpak Stikstof 2015-2019. Ontwerp.* Retrieved June 3, 2023, from https://www.eerstekamer.nl/overig/20150109/programma_aanpak_stikstof_2015/document

Public statements, agreements, voting results, and letters:

Dijksma, S. (2013). Voortgang Natura 2000; Brief regering; Voorlopig advies commissie mer op de PAS (Programma Aanpak Stikstof). Retrieved June 9, 2023, from https://www.parlementairemonitor.nl/9353000/1/j4nvgs5kjg27kof_j9tvgajcor7dxyk_j9vvij5epmj 1ey0/vjsrcz9ugsw4/f=/kst3267096.pdf

Dijksma, S., & Schultz Van Haegen-Maas Geesternaus, M. (2015). *Besluit van de Staatssecretaris van Economische Zaken en de Minister van Infrastructuur en Milieu van 10 juni 2015, nr. DGAN-NB/15076652 houdende vaststelling van het programma aanpak stikstof (Inwerkingtredingsbesluit programma aanpak stikstof)* (Nr. 18411). Staatscourant. Retrieved June 9, 2023, from https://zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/stcrt-2015-18411.pdf

- LNV. (2009). Brief minister over onder meer de uitspraak Voorzitter Afdeling bestuursrechtspraak Raad van State van 26 maart 2008 over het "toetsingskader ammoniak en Natura 2000" - Wijziging van de Wet ammoniak en veehouderij. Parlementaire Monitor. Retrieved June 3, 2023, from https://www.parlementairemonitor.nl/9353000/1/j4nvgs5kjg27kof_j9vvij5epmj1ey0/vi3ubezejczz /f=/kst117819.pdf
- Ministerie van Algemene Zaken. (2023, February 21). *Mark Rutte*. Government.nl. https://www.government.nl/government/members-of-cabinet/mark-rutte
- Ministerie van Economische Zaken, Landbouw en Innovatie. (2012). *Voortgang Natura 2000; Brief regering; Advies van de Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage inzake de concept definitieve Programmatische Aanpak Stikstof (PAS)*. Retrieved June 7, 2023, from https://www.parlementairemonitor.nl/9353000/1/j4nvgs5kjg27kof_j9tvgajcovz8izf_j9vvij5epmj1 ey0/vj286yfjhnva/f=/kst3267063.pdf
- Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal. (2013b, June 19). *Wijziging van de Natuurbeschermingswet 1998* (*programmatische aanpak stikstof*). Tweede Kamer Der Staten-Generaal. Retrieved June 9, 2023, from

https://www.tweedekamer.nl/kamerstukken/stemmingsuitslagen/detail?id=2014P06423&did=201 4P06423

Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal. (2014). *Wijziging van de Natuurbeschermingswet 1998* (*programmatische aanpak stikstof*). Tweede Kamer Der Staten-Generaal. Retrieved June 9, 2023, from https://www.tweedekamer.nl/kamerstukken/wetsvoorstellen/detail?dossier=33669&id=2013Z129

41#activity-2014A01777

Verburg, G. (2008). Wijziging van de Wet ammoniak en veehouderij; Brief minister over aanbieding rapport Taskforce Stikstof-ammoniak i.r.t. Natura 2000. Retrieved June 11, 2023, from https://www.parlementairemonitor.nl/9353000/1/j4nvgs5kjg27kof_j9vvij5epmj1ey0/vhwbcoqe2c s8/f=/kst120412.pdf

Transcripts:

Tweede Kamer der Staaten-Generaal. (2014). *Programmatische Aanpak Stikstof (plenair debat)*. Retrieved June 9, 2023, from https://www.tweedekamer.nl/downloads/document?id=2020D09855

Laws:

Economische Zaken. (2016, April 14). *Natuurbeschermingswet 1998*. overheid.nl. Retrieved June 3, 2023, from https://wetten.overheid.nl/BWBR0009641/2016-04-14

EUR-Lex. (1992). Consolidated text: Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora. Retrieved June 9, 2023, from https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:01992L0043-20130701

Court rulings and legal statements:

InfoCuria. (2018). Judgment of the Court (Second Chamber) of 7 November 2018 (C-293/17). Retrieved

June 3, 2023, from

https://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?text=&docid=209899&pageIndex=0&doclan g=EN&mode=req&dir=&occ=first&part=1&cid=17596857

- Raad van State. (2012, April 11). Voorlichting met betrekking tot de Programmatische Aanpak Stikstof (PAS). Van deze voorlichting is een samenvatting gemaakt. Raad Van State. Retrieved June 9, 2023, from https://www.raadvanstate.nl/adviezen/@62019/w15-12-0046-iv/
- Willink, H. D. T. (2009). Advies Raad van State (bijlage bij 30654, nr. 47). Retrieved June 11, 2023, from

https://www.parlementairemonitor.nl/9353000/1/j4nvgs5kjg27kof_j9vvij5epmj1ey0/vi3ubezbpm zl/f=/blg15571.pdf

Amendments:

- Ministerie van Economische Zaken. (2010). Wet van 18 maart 2010, houdende regels met betrekking tot versnelde ontwikkeling en verwezenlijking van ruimtelijke en infrastructurele projecten (Crisisen herstelwet). Retrieved June 11, 2023, from https://zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/stb-2010-135.pdf
- Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal. (2013c). *Wijziging van de Natuurbeschermingswet 1998* (*programmatische aanpak stikstof*) (No. 33669). Retrieved June 11, 2023, from https://zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/kst-33669-2.pdf

Taskforce reports:

De Adviesgroep Huys. (2009). *Meer dynamiek bij de uitvoering van nationale en Europese natuurwetgeving*. Retrieved June 8, 2023, from https://www.tweedekamer.nl/downloads/document?id=8bcb44a0-1144-4468-8d29-8c74469001e0&title=Rapport%20van%20De%20Adviesgroep%20Huys.pdf Adviescollege Stikstofproblematiek. (2019). *Niet alles kan*. Retrieved June 3, 2023, from https://open.overheid.nl/repository/ronl-4591d6fb-c218-4424-958d-

dce5167ad6cf/1/pdf/Niet_alles_kan_Eerste_advies_Adviescollege_Stikstofproblematiek.pdf

Taskforce Stikstof/ammoniak in relatie tot Natura 2000. (2008). *Stikstof/ammoniak in relatie tot Natura 2000*. Retrieved June 7, 2023, from https://edepot.wur.nl/117580

Advisory reports:

- Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage. (2011). *Programmatische Aanpak Stikstof (PAS)*. Advies van de Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage. (Rapportnummer 2540–67). Retrieved June 3, 2023, from https://www.commissiemer.nl/docs/mer/p25/p2540/a2540ts.pdf
- Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage. (2012). *Programmatische Aanpak Stikstof (PAS)*. Advies van de Commissie m.e.r. (Rapportnummer 2540–168). Retrieved June 6, 2023, from https://open.overheid.nl/repository/ronl-archief-357b8cbc-6542-4079-ae83-

dd7e82f5ffcc/1/pdf/advies-commissie-mer-over-programmatische-aanpak-stikstof-pas.pdf

- Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage. (2013). *Programmatische Aanpak Stikstof (PAS). Advies over reikwijdte en detailniveau van het milieueffectrapport.* (Rapportnummer 2753–70). Retrieved June 3, 2023, from https://www.commissiemer.nl/docs/mer/p27/p2753/a2753rd.pdf
- Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage. (2015a). Programmatische Aanpak Stikstof (PAS). Voorlopig toetsingsadvies over het milieueffectrapport. Retrieved June 9, 2023, from https://www.commissiemer.nl/docs/mer/p27/p2753/a2753vts-1.pdf
- Commissie voor de milieueffectrapportage. (2015b). *Programmatische Aanpak Stikstof (PAS)*. *Toetsingsadvies over het milieueffectrapport en de aanvulling daarop*. (Rapportnummer 2753– 143). Retrieved June 3, 2023, from https://www.commissiemer.nl/docs/mer/p27/p2753/a2753tsea.pdf
- Gies, T. J. A. E., Alterra, Bleker, A., & ECN. (2007). Onderzoek naar de ammoniakdepositie op 5 habitatgebieden ten behoeve van het interim toetsingskader Natura 2000 en Ammoniak. In

edepot.wur.nl (Alterra-rapport 1491, ISSN 1566 7197). Alterra (Wageningen UR). Retrieved June 11, 2023, from https://edepot.wur.nl/19123

PBL (Planbureau voor de Leefomgeving). (2014). Beoordeling Programmatische Aanpak Stikstof. De verwachte effecten voor natuur en vergunningverlening. PBL. Retrieved June 8, 2023, from https://www.pbl.nl/sites/default/files/downloads/PBL_2014_Beoordeling-PAS_De-verwachteeffecten_425.pdf

Newspaper articles:

- Trouw. (2011, March 22). *CDA wil al jaren draai geven aan Nederlands natuurbeleid*. Retrieved June 8, 2023, from https://www.trouw.nl/duurzaamheid-economie/cda-wil-al-jaren-draai-geven-aan-nederlands-natuurbeleid~b5b87b1a/
- Trouw. (2012, December 6). *Aftreden Verdaas "schadelijk en niet goed" voor Ruttes kabinet*. Retrieved June 24, 2023, from https://www.trouw.nl/nieuws/aftreden-verdaas-schadelijk-en-niet-goed-voorruttes-kabinet~bc8894a2/
- Julen, J. (2019, October 17). Hoe het stikstofgedrocht groeide en ter wereld kwam. Trouw. Retrieved June 3, 2023, from https://www.trouw.nl/verdieping/hoe-het-stikstofgedrocht-groeide-en-ter-wereldkwam~be56db7b/
- Van Bokkum, M., & Leijten, J. (2021, October 29). 'Ik heb rapporten herschreven. En daarna dwong je onderzoekers een handtekening eronder te zetten' *NRC*.

https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2019/12/27/stikstofakkoord-het-moest-en-zou-er-komen-a3985137

Zuidervaart, B. (2014, October 27). *De kleine revolutie van Sharon Dijksma*. Trouw. Retrieved June 8, 2023, from https://www.trouw.nl/nieuws/de-kleine-revolutie-van-sharon-dijksma~b673043a/

Scientific articles:

Buijs, A., Mattijssen, T., & Arts, B. (2014). "The man, the administration and the counter-discourse": An analysis of the sudden turn in Dutch nature conservation policy. *Land Use Policy*, 38, 676–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2014.01.010